
Chester County Council Meeting Agenda January 2nd, 2024                                              1 
 

 

    CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 
     R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Building  
   1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
       Tuesday, January 2, 2024 at 6:00 PM 
     

   AGENDA  

      

 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation  

3. Approval of Minutes  

  a. December 4th, 2023 Council minutes.  

4. Citizen Comments 

5. Public Hearing 

  a.  3rd Reading of 2023-20 An Ordinance Authorizing the Execution and Delivery Of An Amended And  
               Restated Infrastructure Credit Agreement By And Among Chester County, South Carolina, Morcon, Inc,  
               And JFR Acquisition, LLC To Provide For Additional Infrastructure Credits; And Addressing Other  
               Related Matters. 
 
6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations  

   a. 3rd Reading of 2023-20 An Ordinance Authorizing the Execution and Delivery Of An Amended And  
               Restated Infrastructure Credit Agreement By And Among Chester County, South Carolina, Morcon, Inc,  
               And JFR Acquisition, LLC To Provide For Additional Infrastructure Credits; And Addressing Other  
               Related Matters. 
 
                 b. 1st Reading of 2024-1 To Amend The Ordinance That Created The Burnt Meeting House Cemetery  
               Advisory Committee And To Adopt Its Enabling Act. 

 
7. Administrator’s Report   

8.         Old Business 
 

  a. 3rd Reading of CCMA23-12 Griffin Land Holdings, LLC C/O John H. Ross request Tax Map #106-00- 
               00- 121-000 located at Highway 9 and Highway 909 to be rezoned from Rural Two District (R-2) to  
               Limited Industrial District (ID-2). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve a five-year reverter   

  clause and no entry off Rodman Road.  
 
  b. 2nd Reading of CCMA23-16 Malissa P. Church request Tax Map #104-00-00-026-000 located  

               at 1843 Greenarch Drive Rock Hill, SC, 29730 to be rezoned from Rural Two District (R2) to  
               Rural One District (R1).  Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve.  
  

 



Chester County Council Meeting Agenda January 2nd, 2024                                              2 
 

 

               

 

               c. Discussion regarding CCMA23-14 known as TM # 124-00-00-008-000 rezoning from R2 Rural Two to  
               GC General Commercial. County Council. 
 

         d. 2nd Reading of CCT23-04  GC – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments  
               General Commercial Regulations CONDITIONAL USE Chapter 4 § 4-117.  Recommendation to add New  
               Text: GC General Commercial District Regulations. Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve.  
        

6.  Meat Processing (Deer Meat Only), 
  provided all following conditions are met: 
 a.  structure in which processing takes place must 
      be 100 feet from property lines; 
 b.  during processing deer carcasses, must not be 
      visible from public view; 
 c.  all remains must be discarded in accordance 
      with applicable DHEC regulations. 

311612 Meat 
Processing 
(limited to 
deer meat) 

1 for each 300 
square feet of 
floor area 

 
   
    e. 2nd Reading of CCTA23-05 Chapter 3§3-107 Accessory Structure Application- Text Amendment 
    Recommendation to add New Text:   New text to be added is in Red. Planning Commission voted 6-0 to  
    approve.  
 
      § 3-107   Accessory Structure 

                 Application.  

a. No accessory structure or building shall be constructed prior to construction of the principle 
building on the lot.  Buildings intended to serve as accessory structures constructed prior to the 
principal buildings shall be considered the principal building and shall meet all applicable district 
and building code regulations.  (Exception: Property classified as Agriculture use in the Tax 
Assessor’s Office) However, automobile garages and carports shall be allowed to be in front of 
the principal building by meeting the front yard setback for the applicable district.        
 

b. Accessory structures shall be located in the rear or sides of the principal building and shall meet 
accessory yard setbacks and applicable district regulations.  

          c.    Manufactured or Mobile Homes cannot be used as accessory units. 

          d.    Accessory buildings shall occupy the same lot as the principal building unless identified as  
       agriculture use.  
    

9. New Business 
  a.  1st Reading of CCMA23-17 Kabelo Ramatapa request Tax Map #079-01-10-011-000 off Saluda Road,   
  located behind 2051 J A Cochran Bypass, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Single Family Residential  
  District (RS-1) to General Commercial District (GC).  Planning Commission vote 6-0 to approve.  

 

 

 



Chester County Council Meeting Agenda January 2nd, 2024    3 

10. Boards and Commissions
a. Resignation from the Lando Fire Protection District. -County Council 

b. Appointment to the Radio Advisory Committee. - County Council  

c. Appointment to the Catawba Workforce Investment Board. - County Council 

11. Executive Session

a. Personnel matter regarding County Council.

b. Personnel matter regarding the County Administrator’s Office.

c. Personnel matter regarding Emergency Services Department.

12. Council Actions Following Executive Session

a. Action taken regarding a personnel matter of County Council.

b. Action taken regarding a personnel matter in the County Administrator’s Office.

c. Action taken regarding a personnel matter in the Emergency Services Department.

13. Council Comments

14. Adjourn

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing 
Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester 
County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 

Guidelines for Addressing Council 

  Citizens Comments: 

• Each citizen will be limited to three minutes.

 Public Hearings:

•  Each speaker will be limited to three minutes.

 When introduced:

• Approach the podium, state your name and address.

• Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is not obstructed.

• Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council.

• Do not approach the Council table unless directed.

   Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you: 

•  Use profanity.

•  Stray from the subject.

•  Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council.



 Chester County Council Minutes December 4, 2023   1 

    CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 

R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex
 1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
 Monday, December 4th, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

 MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Joe Branham, Vice Chairman Pete Wilson, Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilman Corey  
Guy Councilwoman Erin Mosley, Councilman John Agee, Councilman William Killian, County Administrator 
Brian Hester, County Attorney Joanie Winters. 
Absent: Clerk to Council Karen Lee with prior notification.  

1. Call to Order- Chairman Branham called the meeting to order.

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation – Allegiance was recited: Councilman Guy gave the invocation.

3. Approval of Minutes
a. November 20th, 2023 minutes.
Councilwoman Mosley motioned to approve, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-2 to approve.
Chairman Branham and Councilman Killian were not present at the 11-20-2023 meeting and did not vote.

4. Citizen Comments
Bridget Grant, 100 North Tryon St, Charlotte, NC addressed Council regarding being in favor of rezoning
CCMA23-12.
Dr. Nan Saye, 2621 Rodman Road, Chester, SC addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Joanna Angle, 2762 Blaney Road, Chester, SC addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
William Clark, 1461 Ashington Dr. addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Katherine Gindhart, 2331 Rodman Rd addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
George Kanellos, 2331 Rodman Rd addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Cheri Kiley, 2532 Rodman Rd, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
William Gilden, 1424 Saye Place, Chester, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Roxann James, 3007 Steele Village, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
George Sweet, 2528 Rodman Rd, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Lidia Vazquaz, 2644 Rodman Rd, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.
Jason Alt, 3391 Edgeland Rd, Richburg, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-14.
Allen Dickard, 10601 Agnes Douglas Rd, Fort Mill, SC addressed Council regarding being against rezoning
CCMA23-12.
David Wysoki, 709 Skyline Drive, Chester, SC addressed Council regarding the County animal ordinance.
Benjamin Dubard, 575 Wild Hope Farm Rd, addressed Council regarding being against rezoning CCMA23-12.

5. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations

a. 2nd Reading of 2023-20 An Ordinance Authorizing the Execution and Delivery Of An Amended And
Restated Infrastructure Credit Agreement By And Among Chester County, South Carolina, Morcon, Inc.
And JFR Acquisition, LLC To Provide For Additional Infrastructure Credits; And Addressing
Other Related Matters. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley.
Unanimous vote.



 Chester County Council Minutes December 4, 2023   2 

b. 2023-29 Resolution To declare a Revocable Resolution to pause any further Residential Subdivision or
Planned Development in Certain Limited Areas of Chester County.  Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to
approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote.

6. Administrator’s Report
Administrator Hester provided the following report:

1. Posted the Deputy Director of Fire position.
2. Introduced Kalli Oliver, his new Administrative Assistant/PIO Offi
3. Thanked Jamie Deason, for all the work she did in helping him get organized.
4. Gave an update on Animal Control.
5. Gave an update on Rodman Complex.
6. Gave an update on Sports League Allocations.

7. Old Business

a. Update regarding the Burnt Meeting House Cemetery. - Rev. Neely Gaston.
Rev. Gaston stated Gaulden had repaired 25 headstones, along with headstones straightened and several sunken
graves filled. He said there was still work to be done. Dr. Leader will perform a ground penetrating radar survey of
the site in winter months. The SCV 3rd Brigade cleaned up Paul’s cemetery off of Appaloosa Road, they are also
willing to assist in cleaning of other historic cemeteries in the Chester County jurisdiction. Especially those that
have Revolutionary War soldiers buried there.

b. 3rd Reading of CCMA23-12 Griffin Land Holdings, LLC C/O John H. Ross request Tax Map #106-00-00-
121-000 located at Highway 9 and Highway 909 to be rezoned from Rural Two District (R-2) to Limited
Industrial District  (ID-2). The Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve a five-year reverter clause and no
entry off Rodman Road.  Councilman Guy motioned to postpone 3rd reading to the January 2nd, 2024 Council
meeting, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote.

c. 3rd Reading of CCMA23-14 Robert Reid and Craig Shaftner request Tax Map #124-00-00-008-000
located at 3353 Edgeland Road, Richburg, SC 29729 to be rezoned from Rural Two District (R2) to
General Commercial District (GC). Planning Commission voted 6-0 to deny. Councilman Guy motioned to
reconsider the  3rd reading to the second Council meeting in January, second by Councilman Vaughn.
Unanimous vote. Council also asked to have this back on the agenda for discussion at the first meeting in January.

d. 3rd Reading of CCTA23-02    RS-1 – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendment
Single Family Residential District Uses Chapter 4 § 4-109    RS-1 Special Exception Recommendation
to Remove Text:  RS-1   SPECIAL EXCEPTION Item #2. Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

 Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote. 

2. Clustered single-family development, provided the Board of
Zoning Appeals determines:

a. detached single-family units on minimum of 2 acre
development parcel;

b. Minimum individual lot size of 14,520 square feet;
c. lot requirements per house may be waived;
d. zero interior lot line setback may be allowed;
e. Subdivision Regulations are met;
f. adequate provisions for access and traffic safety

providing for safe and efficient access into, within, and
out of the development for the vehicles, pedestrians and
emergency vehicles;

g. public water and sewer are available for the property;
h. the use is compatible with the district.

 NAICS 
  CODE 
    N/A 

       NAICS 
DESCRIPTION 
      Private 
   households 

    PARKING 
   2 for each 
    dwelling 
        unit 



 Chester County Council Minutes December 4, 2023   3 

e. 3rd Reading of CCTA23-03      PD – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendment
Planned Development District Regulations Chapter 4 § 4-130 Recommendation to add New Text: PD
Planned Development District Regulations. Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve.

Maximum number of units The number of units shall not exceed the guaranteed allotment for service of water 
and wastewater. Should the water and wastewater guarantee expire before the 
development construction begins, the zoning shall revert to the previous zoning.  

  Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Wilson.  Unanimous vote. 

8. New Business
a. 1st Reading of CCMA23-16 Malissa P. Church request Tax Map #104-00-00-026-000 located at 1843
Greenarch Drive Rock Hill, SC, 29730 to be rezoned from Rural Two District (R2) to Rural One District
(R1). Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve. Councilman Agee motioned to approve, second by
Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote.

b. Council to approve a matching grant for the first phase for lighting projects in the amount of $6884
dollars for the Chester Catawba Regional Airport. Airport Director Keith Roach.
Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote.

c. 1st Reading of CCT23-04  GC – Chester County Zoning Ordinance – Text Amendments
General Commercial Regulations CONDITIONAL USE Chapter 4 § 4-117.  Recommendation to add New
Text: GC General Commercial District Regulations. Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve.

6. Meat Processing (Deer Meat Only),
provided all following conditions are met:

a. structure in which processing takes place must
be 100 feet from property lines;

b. during processing deer carcasses, must not be
visible from public view;

c. all remains must be discarded in accordance
with applicable DHEC regulations.

311612 Meat Processing 
(limited to deer 
meat) 

1 for each 300 
square feet of 
floor area 

Councilwoman Mosley motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote. 

d. 1st Reading of CCTA23-05 Chapter 3§3-107 Accessory Structure Application- Text Amendment
Recommendation to add New Text:   New text to be added is in Red. Planning Commission voted 5-0 to
approve.

§ 3-107   Accessory Structure Application.
a. No accessory structure or building shall be constructed prior to construction of the principle

building on the lot.  Buildings intended to serve as accessory structures constructed prior to the
principal buildings shall be considered the principal building and shall meet all applicable
district and building code regulations.  (Exception: Property classified as Agriculture use in the
Tax Assessor’s Office) However, automobile garages and carports shall be allowed to be in front
of the principal building by meeting the front yard setback for the applicable district.

b. Accessory structures shall be located in the rear or sides of the principal building and shall meet
accessory yard setbacks and applicable district regulations.

c. Manufactured or Mobile Homes cannot be used as accessory units.

d. Accessory buildings shall occupy the same lot as the principal building unless identified as
agriculture use.

  Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote. 



 Chester County Council Minutes December 4, 2023   4 

e. Approval of Enterprise IT Security backup and disaster recovery solution for a three-year contract in
the amount of $ 80,433.34 dollars. IT Director David Schuelke. Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to
approve, second by Councilwoman Mosley. Unanimous vote.

9. Executive Session -Vice Chairman Wilson motioned to go to executive session, second by Councilwoman
Mosley. Unanimous vote.

a. Personnel matter regarding the County Administrator.

10. Council Actions Following Executive Session -Councilman Guy motioned to go back to regular session,
second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote.

a. Action taken regarding the County Administrator.
Chairman Branham motioned to extend the County Administrators contract from a three-year contract to a five
year contract, severance pay would be from three months to six months. He would receive the same pay raise
as any other elected official in the County would get, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote.

11. Council Comments
Vice Chairman Wilson and Chairman Branham asked for prayers for Miss Lee who lost her father.

12. Adjourn-Councilwoman Mosley motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Killian. Unanimous vote.

Time: 9:20 PM 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER COUNTY 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-20 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF AN AMENDED AND RESTATED 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND AMONG 
CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, MORCON, INC. AND 
JFR ACQUISITION, LLC TO PROVIDE FOR ADDITIONAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS; AND ADDRESSING OTHER 
RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), and Morcon, Inc. (“Morcon”) entered an 
Infrastructure Credit Agreement dated September 6, 2022 (“Original IC Agreement”) whereby Morcon 
agreed to invest no less than $3,167,654 during the period beginning on January 1, 2021, and ending on 
December 31, 2025, to expand Morcon’s manufacturing facility in the County; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original IC Agreement, the County agreed to provide a 39% 
Infrastructure Credit for each year for six, consecutive years, beginning with Morcon’s payment due on or 
before January 15, 2023; 

WHEREAS, according to information supplied to the County by Morcon, Morcon has exceeded its 
investment commitment under the Original IC Agreement by investing more than $4,480,000 in the 
County; 

WHEREAS, JFR Acquisition, LLC, Morcon’s landlord (“JFR” and together with Morcon, the 
“Company”) now desires to be made a party to the Agreement and contribute to the Company’s 
investment thereunder;  

WHEREAS, the Company has represented to the County that the Company intends to invest an 
additional $10,009,422 on or before December 31, 2027, and has requested the County authorize an 
Amended and Restated Infrastructure Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”) to provide for additional 
Infrastructure Credits, to extend the Investment Period under the Original IC Agreement and to add JFR 
as a party to the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form of the 
Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County, acting by and through its County Council 
(“Council”): 

Section 1. Approval of SSRC. The County hereby approves and ratifies a special source revenue 
credit with respect to investments in the Project (as defined in the Agreement) placed in service during the 
period beginning on January 1, 2023, and ending on December 31, 2027, of 30% per year for 5 
consecutive years beginning with the payment due on or before January 15, 2025, all as set forth more 
particularly in the Agreement. 

Section 2. Approval of Agreement. 

(a) The form, terms, and provisions of the Agreement presented to this meeting, and attached to this 
Ordinance as Exhibit A, are approved and all of the terms, provisions, and conditions of the Agreement 
are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. 

(b) The Agreement, to be executed on behalf of the County, shall be in substantially the form now 
before the Council and shall include only changes that are approved by the County officials executing the 



 

Agreement. The County officials shall consult the attorney for the County with respect to any changes to 
the Agreement. The execution of the Agreement by County officials shall constitute conclusive evidence 
that they have approved all changes to or revisions of the Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. Authorization to Execute and Deliver the Agreement. The Chairman of County Council 
(and his designated appointees) is authorized and directed, in the name of and on behalf of the County, to 
execute and deliver the Agreement, and to take further actions and execute and deliver further documents 
as the Chairman of County Council (and his designated appointees) deems reasonably necessary and 
prudent to effect this Ordinance’s intent, and the Clerk to County Council is directed to attest and deliver 
the same to the Company. 

Section 4. General Repealer. Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in 
conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance is effective from and after its third reading, following a 
public hearing, by the Council. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE AND ONE EXHIBIT FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 



 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

        
Joe Branham, Chairman 
Chester County Council 

(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 

        
Karen Lee 
Clerk, Chester County Council 

First Reading:  November 6, 2023 
Second Reading: December 4, 2023 
Public Hearing:  January 2, 2024 
Third Reading:  January 2, 2024 



 

EXHIBIT A 
SUBSTANTIALLY FINAL FORM 

OF 
AMENDED AND RESTATED INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

by and among 
 
 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
 
 

MORCON, INC. 
 
 

and 
 
 

JFR ACQUISITION, LLC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective as of: September 6, 2022 
Amended and Restated as of: January 2, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 



AMENDED AND RESTATED INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

This AMENDED AND RESTATED INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT, effective as of 
September 6, 2022 (“Agreement”), is entered into by and among CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate, and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(“County”), MORCON, INC., a New York corporation previously identified to the County as Project 
Paper (“Morcon”) and JFR ACQUISITION, LLC, a New York limited liability company (“JFR” and 
together with Morcon, the “Company”). JFR and Morcon may each further be referred to herein as a 
“Party” and together as the “Parties.” 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (“County Council”), is authorized 
and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina 
Constitution and the provisions of Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (collectively, “Act”), to (i) develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders 
with the County; and (ii) include property in the multicounty park, which inclusion under the terms of the 
Act allows such property to be eligible for certain incentives to offset payments in lieu of taxes; 

WHEREAS, the County is further authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Act to grant credits against 
payments in lieu of taxes (“Infrastructure Credits” or “SSRCs”) to pay costs of designing, acquiring, 
constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a project or the County and (ii) improved 
and unimproved real estate and personal property used in the operation of a commercial enterprise or 
manufacturing facility (collectively, “Infrastructure”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Ordinance No. 2022-15 the County and Morcon entered into an 
Infrastructure Credit Agreement effective September 6, 2022, (the “Original IC Agreement”) whereby 
Morcon agreed to invest no less than $3,167,654 during the period beginning on January 1, 2021, and 
ending on December 31, 2025, to expand the Company’s manufacturing facility in the County (the 
“Original Project”); 

WHEREAS, according to information supplied to the County by the Company, the Company has 
exceeded its investment commitment under the Original Project by investing more than $4,480,000 in the 
County; 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented to the County that the Company intends to invest an 
additional $10,009,422 on or before December 31, 2027 (the “Project”), and has requested the County 
authorize this Amended and Restated Infrastructure Credit Agreement to provide for additional 
Infrastructure Credits, to extend the Company’s performance under the Original IC Agreement and to add 
JFR, Morcon’s landlord, as a party to this Agreement.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 
contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 1.1. Representations by the County. The County represents to the Company as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of 
South Carolina; 



(b) The County is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into and 
carry out its obligations under this Agreement; 

(c) The County has duly authorized and approved the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement by adoption of the Ordinance in accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act and 
any other applicable state law;  

(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result 
of entering into and performing its obligations under this Agreement;  

(e) The County has approved the inclusion of the Project in the Park; 

(f) If the Project is not properly included in the Park or in another multi-county industrial 
park at any time during the term of the Infrastructure Credits, the County will exercise commercially 
reasonable efforts to add the Project to a multi-county industrial park and to ensure that the Project 
remains in a multi-county industrial park for the duration of such term. 

(g) Based on representations made by the Company to the County, the County has 
determined the Project and the Infrastructure will enhance the economic development of the County. 
Therefore, the County is entering into this Agreement for the purpose of promoting the economic 
development of the County. 

Section 1.2. Representations and Covenants by Morcon. Morcon represents and covenants to the 
County as follows: 

(a) Morcon is in good standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, has power to 
conduct business in the State of South Carolina and enter into this Agreement, and by proper company 
action has authorized the officials signing this Agreement to execute and deliver it. 

(b) Morcon will use commercially reasonable efforts to continuously operate a 
manufacturing facility in the County. 

(c) Morcon’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, and its compliance with the 
provisions of this Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which 
Morcon is now a party or by which it is bound. 

Section 1.2. Representations and Covenants by JFR. JFR represents and covenants to the 
County as follows: 

(a) JFR is in good standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, has power to 
conduct business in the State of South Carolina and enter into this Agreement, and by proper company 
action has authorized the officials signing this Agreement to execute and deliver it. 

 (c) JFR’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, and its compliance with the provisions 
of this Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which JFR is now a 
party or by which it is bound. 

 



ARTICLE II 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS 

Section 2.1. Operation of Manufacturing Facility. The Company intends to operate a 
manufacturing facility in the County. 

Section 2.2. Infrastructure Credits. 

(a) To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the County shall provide Infrastructure 
Credits against certain of the Company’s payments in lieu of taxes in two parts: (i) with respect to 
investments in the Project placed in service during the period beginning on January 1, 2021, and ending 
on December 31, 2022 (“Investment Period 1”), a 39% SSRC for each year for 5 years beginning with the 
payment due on or before January 15, 2023 (“SSRC 1”); and (ii) with respect to investments in the 
Project placed in service during the period beginning on January 1, 2023, and ending on December 31, 
2027 (“Investment Period 2” and together with Investment Period 1, the “Investment Period”), a 30% 
SSRC for each year for 5 years beginning with the payment due on or before January 15, 2025 (“SSRC 2” 
and together with SSRC 1, the “SSRCs”)).  

During Investment Period 1, the Company invested in real and personal property that would have 
otherwise been subject to ad valorem property taxes but for the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 
Such investment shall be reported on a separate “Schedule A” on the Company’s annual PT-300 (or 
successor) filing. The SSRC 1 shall apply to reduce the payments in lieu of taxes otherwise due for assets 
placed in service during Investment Period 1. 

During Investment Period 2, the Company agrees to invest at least $10,009,422 in real and 
personal property that would otherwise be subject to ad valorem property taxes but for the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement. Such investment shall be reported on a separate “Schedule A” on the 
Company’s annual PT-300 (or successor) filing. The SSRC 2 shall apply to reduce the payments in lieu of 
taxes otherwise due for assets placed in service during Investment Period 2. 

If any aggregate, net payment(s) due in lieu of taxes after SSRC 1 and SSRC 2 are applied would 
be less than $33,322 (“Minimum Payment”), then SSRC 1 and SSRC 2 shall be reduced proportionally to 
account for any shortfall such that the Company shall never pay an amount less than the Minimum 
Payment; provided, however, that SSRC 1 and SSRC 2 shall not be reduced below $0 for any payments 
in lieu of taxes due hereunder.  

(b) For each property tax year in which the Company is entitled to an Infrastructure Credit 
(“Credit Term”), the County shall reduce the payments in lieu of taxes by the amount of the applicable 
Infrastructure Credit(s) for such year in calculating the net amount of the payments in lieu of taxes due 
from the Company.  

(c) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS PROVIDED BY 
THIS AGREEMENT ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY. THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
CREDITS ARE DERIVED SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF THE PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF TAXES MADE BY THE COMPANY TO THE COUNTY PURSUANT TO THE ACT AND THE 
PARK AGREEMENT. THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS DO NOT AND SHALL NOT 
CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY WITHIN 
THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT 
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE 
COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT OR 
TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY. THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND 



TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE 
PROVISION OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS.  

(d) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any 
pecuniary liability on the County or any charge on its general credit or against its taxing power. The 
liability of the County under this Agreement or for any breach or default by the County of any of the 
foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the payments received from the Company. The 
County shall not be required to provide any Infrastructure Credit except with respect to the payments 
received from the Company pursuant to this Agreement. 

Section 2.3 Cumulative Infrastructure Credit. The cumulative dollar amount expended by the 
Company on Infrastructure shall equal or exceed the cumulative dollar amount of all the Infrastructure 
Credits received by the Company.  

Section 2.4 Clawback.  

(a) If the Company does not invest $3,167,654 within and prior to the expiration of 
Investment Period 1, the Company shall be required to repay a portion of SSRC 1, with the repayment 
amount to be calculated as follows: 

Repayment Amount = SSRC 1 x Shortfall Percentage 

Shortfall Percentage = 100% - Investment Achievement Percentage  

Investment Achievement Percentage = Maximum Investment Achieved in County Within 
Investment Period 1/ $3,167,654 (capped at 100%) 

For any remaining years in which SSRC 1 is applicable, SSRC 1 shall be reduced by the shortfall 
percentage, provided that in any subsequent year in which the Investment Achievement Percentage is 
higher, the Company may submit a written certification to the County on or before June 30 of the year for 
which SSRC 1 is claimed, and the SSRC shall be reset (for that year only) using the above calculation and 
the new Investment Achievement Percentage.  

Based solely on information provided by the Company, the County understands that the 
investment requirement has been satisfied, and no repayment is required under this Section 2.4(a). 

(b) If the Company does not invest $10,009,422 within and prior to the expiration of 
Investment Period 2, the Company shall be required to repay a portion of SSRC 2, with the repayment 
amount to be calculated as follows: 

SSRC 2 Repayment Amount = SSRC 2 Received x SSRC 2 Shortfall Percentage 

SSRC 2 Shortfall Percentage = 100% - SSRC 2 Investment Achievement Percentage   

SSRC 2 Investment Achievement Percentage = Maximum Investment Achieved in County 
Within Investment Period 2 / $10,009,422 (capped at 100%) 

For any remaining years in which SSRC 2 is applicable, SSRC 2 shall be reduced by the shortfall 
percentage, provided that in any subsequent year in which the SSRC 2 Investment Achievement 
Percentage is higher, the Company may submit a written certification to the County on or before June 30 
of the year for which SSRC 2 is claimed, and SSRC 2 shall be reset (for that year only) using the above 
calculation and the new SSRC 2 Investment Achievement Percentage.   



The Repayment Amount, if applicable, shall be due within 180 days after the expiration of 
Investment Period 1, and the SSRC 2 Repayment Amount, if applicable, shall be due within 180 days 
after the expiration of Investment Period 2. 

ARTICLE III 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 3.1. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default” under this Agreement: 

(a) Failure by the Company to make a payment in lieu of tax on or before the date for which an 
ad valorem tax payment would be due without penalty; 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company which is materially incorrect when 
deemed made; 

(c) Failure by the Company to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
under this Agreement (other than those described in (a) above), which failure has not been cured within 
30 days after written notice from the County to the Company specifying such failure and requesting that it 
be remedied, unless the Company has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is 
diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is 
extended to include the period during which the Company is diligently pursuing corrective action; 

(e) A representation or warranty made by the County which is materially incorrect when deemed 
made; or 

(f) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Company to the 
County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 
corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 
corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 
diligently pursuing corrective action. 

Section 3.2. Remedies on Default.  

(a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then the non-defaulting party may take 
any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) terminate the Agreement; and/or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity, including bringing an action for specific 
performance, as may appear appropriate. 

Section 3.3. Reserved. 

Section 3.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy described in this Agreement is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition 
to every other remedy given under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 3.5. Nonwaiver. A delay or omission by the Company or County to exercise any right or 
power accruing on an Event of Default does not waive such right or power and is not deemed to be a 
waiver or acquiescence of the Event of Default. Every power and remedy given to the Company or 
County by this Agreement may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 



ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1. Examination of Records; Confidentiality. 

(a) The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on at least three business 
days’ prior notice, may enter and examine the Project and have access to and examine the Company’s 
books and records relating to the Project for the purposes of (i) identifying the Project; (ii) confirming 
achievement of the Investment Commitment; and (iii) permitting the County to carry out its duties and 
obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, without limitation, for such routine health and safety 
purposes as would be applied to any other manufacturing or commercial facility in the County). 

(b) The County acknowledges that the Company may utilize confidential and proprietary 
processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential Information”) 
and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm to the 
Company. The Company may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 
pursuant to this Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or any 
employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled 
Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Company 
acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a 
result, must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is 
required to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to 
provide the Company with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure 
requirement prior to making such disclosure and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the 
Company to obtain judicial or other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 4.2. Assignment. The Company may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights and 
interest in this Agreement on prior written consent of the County, which may be given by resolution, and 
which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the County 
preauthorizes and consents to an assignment by the Company of its rights and interest in this Agreement 
to an “Affiliate” of the Company so long as the Company provides written consent of the assignment, and 
the Affiliate agrees in a signed writing delivered to the County to assume all duties and obligations of the 
Company hereunder. An “Affiliate” of the Company shall mean any entity that controls, is controlled by, 
or is under common control with the Company. 

Section 4.3. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Company. Except as 
otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied 
confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Company any right, remedy, or claim under 
or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 
the County and the Company. 

Section 4.4. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Agreement are unimpaired, and the Parties 
shall reform such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, 
and enforceable intent of this Agreement.  

Section 4.5. Limitation of Liability.  

(a) The County is not liable to the Company for any costs, expenses, losses, damages, claims 
or actions in connection with this Agreement, except from amounts received by the County from the 
Company under this Agreement. 



(b) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County 
contained in this Agreement are binding on members of the County Council or any elected official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her 
individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or performance of any of the 
covenants and agreements under this Agreement or for any claims based on this Agreement may be had 
against any member of County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the 
County except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 4.6. Indemnification Covenant. 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and save the 
County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless 
against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Agreement, 
performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant 
to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement.  

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the 
County for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or 
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a 
statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Company shall pay the County within 
30 days of receipt of the statement. The Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the 
costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which 
may be privileged or confidential to evidence the costs.  

(c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an 
Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of 
the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company is entitled to use counsel of its choice, 
manage, and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the 
Company is not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party.  

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Agreement to the contrary, the Company is 
not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from 
any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the 
execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or the 
administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered 
into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, 
deceit, or willful misconduct.  

(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 
provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 
any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 
afford the Company notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise 
respond to a claim. 

Section 4.7. Notices. All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 
Agreement are sufficiently given and are deemed given, unless otherwise required by this Agreement, 
when (i) delivered and confirmed by United States first-class, registered mail, postage prepaid or (ii) sent 
by facsimile, and addressed as follows: 

 if to the County:  Chester County, South Carolina 
      Attn: County Chairman 
      Post Office Box 580 



      Chester, SC 29706 
 
  with a copy to:   King Kozlarek Law LLC 
  (which shall not   Attn: Michael Kozlarek 
  constitute notice)  Post Office Box 565 
      Greenville, SC 29602-0565 
      michael@kingkozlaw.com 
   
  if to Morcon:   Morcon, Inc. 
      Attn: Karen Jones 
      62 Owl Kill Road 

Eagle Bridge, NY 12057    
 kjones@morcontissue.com 

       
 

  with a copy to:   Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
  (which shall not   Attn: Will Johnson 
  constitute notice)  P.O. Box 11889 
      Columbia, SC 29211-1889 
      wjohnson@hsblawfirm.com 
 
  if to JFR:   JFR Acquisition, LLC 
      Attn: Karen Jones 
      62 Owl Kill Road 

Eagle Bridge, NY 12057    
 kjones@morcontissue.com 

 
  with a copy to:   Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
  (which shall not   Attn: Will Johnson 
  constitute notice)  P.O. Box 11889 
      Columbia, SC 29211-1889 
      wjohnson@hsblawfirm.com 

 
 
The County and the Company may, by notice given under this Section, designate any further or 

different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests, or other communications shall be 
sent. 

Section 4.8. Administrative Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the County for its 
expenses, including, but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, related to (i) review and negotiation, 
execution, and delivery of this Agreement, and/or (ii) review and negotiation, execution, and delivery of 
any other documents related to the Project or the Infrastructure Credits, in an amount not to exceed 
$3,500.00. 

Section 4.9. Entire Agreement. This Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 
agreements of the Parties with each other, and neither Party is bound by any agreement or any 
representation to the other Party which is not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates 
delivered in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

Section 4.10. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 
Company, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company such additional instruments as the 



Company may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and reasonably within the purposes and 
scope of the Act and this Agreement to effectuate the purposes of this Agreement. 

Section 4.11. Agreement’s Construction. Each Party and its counsel have reviewed this 
Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting 
party does not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this 
Agreement. 

Section 4.12. Applicable Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions 
that would refer the governance of this Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this 
Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Agreement. 

Section 4.13. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and 
all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 4.14. Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
Parties. 

Section 4.15. Waiver. Either Party may waive compliance by the other Party with any term or 
condition of this Agreement but the waiver is valid only if it is in a writing signed by the waiving Party. 

Section 4.16. Termination. Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Agreement, 
this Agreement terminates on the expiration of the Credit Term and payment by the Company of any 
outstanding payments in lieu of taxes due on the Project pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 4.17. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Agreement, 
required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in which 
the Party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or given on the 
following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required under this Agreement, 
and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

[THREE SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Chester County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement to be 
executed by the appropriate officials of the County and its corporate seal to be affixed and attested, 
effective the day and year first above written. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

       
Joe Branham 
Chairman 
Chester County Council 

  

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

       
Clerk to Council 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 TO INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT] 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Morcon has caused this Agreement to be executed by its authorized 
officer(s), effective the day and year first above written. 

MORCON, INC. 
 
 
Signature:        

      Name:         
      Title:         

  

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 TO INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT] 
 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JFR has caused this Agreement to be executed by its authorized 
officer(s), effective the day and year first above written. 

JFR ACQUISITION, LLC. 
 
 
Signature:        

      Name:         
      Title:         

  

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 3 TO INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT] 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) Ordinance No. 2024-1 
) 

COUNTY OF CHESTER  ) 

TO AMEND THE ORDINANCE THAT CREATED THE BURNT MEETING HOUSE CEMETARY 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE AND TO ADOPT ITS ENABLING ACT 

WHEREAS Section 4-9-30-(6) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina empowers 
the County Council “to establish such agencies, departments, boards, commissions and 
positions in the County as may be necessary and proper to provide services of local 
concern for public purposes, to prescribe the functions thereof and to regulate, modify, 
merge or abolish such agencies, departments, boards, commissions and positions…” and 

WHEREAS, the Council is further empowered by the provisions of Chapter 9, Sub-
section (6) of Title 4 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, to 
regulate established boards and commissions; and 

WHEREAS, on October 16, 2020, Chester County Council did establish by 
ordinance 2020-34, the Burnt Meeting House Cemetery Advisory Committee; and 

WHEREAS, due to expanded vision and responsibility of said Advisory 
Committee, the County Council does amend Ordinance 2020-34 to hereby rename the 
Burnt Meeting House Cemetery Advisory Committee, to be known going forward as the 
Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee through adoption of an 
enabling act; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, DULY ASSEMBLED THAT THE FOLLOWING AMENDED 
ORDINANCE IS HEREBY ADOPTED: 

Chester County Council does hereby amend Ordinance 2020-34 to rename the 
Burnt Meeting House Cemetery Advisory Committee to be known going forward as the 
Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee and does adopt the enabling 
act (Exhibit A) for the Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee, and it 
shall be incorporated into this Ordinance by reference. 



2 

This ordinance shall take effect upon adoption by the Chester County Council on 
the date of the final reading approval. 

SECTION 2: This ordinance shall take effect upon adoption. 

1stReading:  1-2-2024
2ndReading:   1-16-2024
3rdReading:  2-5-2024
Public Hearing: 2-5-2024

______________________________ 
Joseph R. Branham, Chair 
Chester County Council 

_______________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk to Council 



3 

EXHIBIT A 

Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee 

Established; Composition; Appointment 

There is established a board to be called the Chester County Historical 
Cemeteries Advisory Committee, previously known as the Burnt Meeting
House Cemetery Advisory Committee.   The board shall be comprised of five
(5) individuals appointed by the Chester County Council.

Membership and Terms 

(a) Membership.  The Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee
shall consist of five (5) members. Such board members should be composed of
individuals with knowledge and experience in the care and maintenance of
property, and in particular cemeteries.

(b) Terms.  The terms of office the board members shall be staggered so not
more than one-third of the board is appointed or replaced in any 12-month
period.  The terms of office shall be for four years or until filled by the County
Council.  Vacancies shall be filled for any unexpired term in the manner in which
original appointments are required to be made.  Continued unexcused absence
of any member from requires meetings of the board shall, at the discretion of the
County Council, render any such member subject to immediate removal from
office.



 
 

4 
 

(c) Quorum and voting.  A simple majority of the board shall constitute a quorum.  
In varying any provision of this Code, the affirmative votes of the majority present 
shall be required. 
 
(d) Officers and duties.  The board at its first meeting in January of each year 
shall elect a chair and vice-chair.  The election, terms and duties of the chair and 
vice-chair and duties of the secretary shall be as follows:  
   

(1) Chair.  A chair shall be elected by the voting members of the board.  
The term shall be for one year and his succession in office shall be limited to 
three years after which time the chair cannot be reelected until after a one-year 
period.  The chair shall preside at all meetings of the board and decide all point 
of order and procedure, subject of this article, unless directed otherwise by a 
majority of the board in session at the time.  The chair shall appoint any 
committees found necessary to investigate any matter. 
 (2)  Vice-chair.   A vice-chair shall be elected by the board among its 
members in the same manner and for the same term as the chair.  The vice-chair 
shall serve as acting chairman in the absence of the chair, and at such times he 
shall have the same power and duties as the chairman.  The vice-chair shall 
succeed that chairman if the chair vacates his office before the chair’s term is 
completed, the vice-chairman to serve the unexpired term of the vacated office.  
A new vice- chair shall be elected at the next regular meeting. 
 (3) Secretary. The building official shall act as secretary of the board and 
shall make a detailed record of all of its proceedings, which shall set forth the 
reasons for its decision, the vote of each member, the absence of a member and 
any failure of a member to vote.  
 
Powers 
 
(a) The Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee shall have the 
power, as further defined in subsection (b) of this section, to hear requests or 
complaints from the community on the condition of the Cemetery. 
(b) The Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee shall have the 
duty to bring recommendations before Chester County Council for the 
beautification and continued maintenance of County cemeteries, and any 
possible improvements to the property.   
(c) The Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory Committee shall be 
charged with the responsibility of meeting on a regular basis with County 
personnel regarding the maintenance of County cemeteries and to provide 
suggestions/recommendations for the improvement of such maintenance. 
 
 

Procedures 
 

(a) Rules and regulations.  The Chester County Historical Cemeteries Advisory 
Committee shall establish rules and regulations for its own procedure not 



5 

inconsistent with state and federal laws.  The Committee shall meet at the call of 
the chairman.   

















SPACE RESERVED FOR RECORDING INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AFTER RECORDING, PLEASE RETURN TO: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF CHESTER 

) 
) 
) 

DECLARATION OF  
RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS 

 

THIS DECLARATION OF RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS (this “Declaration”) is made and 
entered into this _____ day of ______________, 2024, by _______________________, LLC 
(“Declarant”). 

RECITALS 

A. Declarant is the owner of that certain parcel of land comprised of approximately 180.39 
acres and located on Lancaster Highway in Chester County, South Carolina (Tax Map No. 106-00-00-121-
000) (the “Property”), which is more fully described on Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein.  

B. Consistent with its representations to the Chester County Council during the rezoning 
process, Declarant voluntarily seeks to impose certain restrictions and obligations on the Property, as more 
fully set forth in this Declaration. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants set forth in this Declaration and for the 
purposes set forth above, Declarant, for itself, and its successors and/or assigns, imposes, and places the 
following covenants and restrictions upon the Property: 

1. Recitals. The foregoing recitals, which are given by Declarant, are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

2. Use Restrictions. No portion of the Property will be used for animal processing, chemical 
manufacturing, hazardous waste (including storage or incinerating), manufacturing of tobacco products, 
zoos and botanical gardens, solar farms, poultry hatcheries, government facility (correctional facility 
limited to pre-trial detention), septic tank service, communications tower, airports, sports, racetracks, 
fairgrounds (including spectator sports, stadiums, fairs), and/or manufacturing that occurs outdoors. 
However, this restriction shall not restrict the development of all other uses permitted under ID-2 zoning, 
in effect as of the recordation of this Declaration, so long as any development on the Property does not 
exceed 1.4 million square feet. 

3. Property Design and Access Standards. The following standards shall apply to 
development of the Property: 



2 

(a) The maximum building height shall be fifty (50) feet as measured by applicable 
Chester County, South Carolina, land development/use regulations.  

(b) The Property shall have a minimum fifty (50) percent open space, which may 
include streams and/or buffers. 

(c) Outdoor storage shall be screened. 

(d) A one hundred (100) foot undisturbed perimeter buffer shall be provided as 
generally depicted on Exhibit B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, by 
the use of [describe how depicted]. A limited area along the Property’s western boundary may have 
a minimum seventy-five (75) foot undisturbed perimeter buffer as generally depicted on Exhibit B, 
which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, by the use of [describe how 
depicted]. 

(e) A building shall not be any closer than two hundred (200) feet to the nearest point 
of any relevant property line. 

(f) Means of ingress and egress to the Property shall be limited to Lancaster Highway. 

(g) A right-of-way dedication shall be offered to Chester County, South Carolina, to 
provide access to Rodman Road Park to Rodman Road as generally depicted on Exhibit B, which 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, by the use of [describe how depicted]. 

(h) A sewer line shall be stubbed at the property line as generally depicted on Exhibit 
B, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, by the use of [describe how 
depicted], at such time as each applicable portion of the Property is developed. 

(i) A one hundred (100) foot buffer shall be provided on all perennial streams. A fifty 
(50) foot buffer shall be provided on all intermittent streams. 

(j) A pole mounted light fixture shall not exceed twenty-five (25) feet if the fixture is 
within two hundred (200) feet of the nearest point of any relevant property line.  

(k) Development shall comply with all Chester County, South Carolina, land 
development/use regulations, hours of operation, and/or noise restrictions. 

4. Architectural Standards. The following standards shall apply to development of the 
Property: 

(a) Exterior Building Materials:  

(i) One dominant wall material shall be selected and emphasized throughout 
the structure and the individual building site. Materials that convey permanence, substance, 
and restraint are encouraged (e.g., brick, stone, select concrete, etc.). 

(ii) The dominant wall material shall blend with those existing materials in 
adjacent areas of the development. 

(iii) Examples of unacceptable exterior building materials and treatments 
include: exposed standard concrete blocks; prefabricated metal sided “butler” type 
buildings; simulated brick, simulated stone, and simulated wood; and unnatural brick tones. 



3 

(b) Exterior Appearance: 

(i) Roof down spouts and drainage pipes on building frontages shall be 
incorporated into the interior of walls and shall not be exposed. 

(ii) All buildings shall have controls placed on the treatment of related exterior 
windows to help insure uniformity in appearance. Blinds and/or drapes if visible to the 
exterior, shall be of the same design and color throughout. Window enclosures shall be 
anodized with a dark or subdued color. 

5. Amendment or Termination of Declaration. This Declaration may not be amended or 
terminated except by a written agreement executed by 100% of the then current owner of the Property and 
with the consent of Chester County, South Carolina, by and through the enactment of ordinance of consent 
by the Chester County Council, based on a showing of good cause as determined, its sole discretion, by the 
Chester County Council; provided, however, that the Chester County zoning administrator, on request of 
the Declarant, or its successor(s), may grant relief from the strict application of the standards set forth in 
Section 3 and Section 4 on a showing of hardship or good cause as the Chester County zoning administrator 
may determine, in the zoning administrator’s sole discretion. Any such amendment and/or relief shall be 
effective when properly recorded in the real property records recording office for Chester County, South 
Carolina. 

6. Binding Effect. The covenants, conditions and restrictions contained in this Declaration 
shall run with the land; they are made by Declarant for the benefit of itself, its successors and assigns in 
title to all or part of the Property, each tenant now or hereafter leasing any part of the Property, and each 
lender making a loan secured by a mortgage on all or any part of the Property. This Declaration and the 
rights granted and created hereby shall be superior to all leases, conveyances, transfers, assignments, 
contracts, mortgages, deeds of trust, and all other encumbrances of whatever nature, and all documents 
affecting all or any part of the Property that may be recorded after the recording of this Declaration. Any 
person or entity foreclosing any such mortgage, deed of trust, lien, or any other encumbrance, and any 
persons or entities acquiring title to, or an interest in, any part of the Property as a result thereof shall acquire 
and hold title expressly subject to the provisions of this Declaration. 

7. Remedies for Breach. The terms and conditions of this Declaration shall be enforceable 
by Chester County, South Carolina, by and through the Chester County Administrator, and/or designee(s), 
by actions for specific performance or injunction, in addition to any other remedies available at law. No 
breach of the provisions of this Declaration shall entitle any owner of the Property or portion thereof to 
cancel, rescind, or otherwise terminate this Declaration, but the foregoing limitations shall not affect any 
other rights or remedies that Chester County, South Carolina, may have under this Declaration for such 
breach. No lender succeeding to the interest of any owner of the Property (whether by foreclosure, deed in 
lieu of foreclosure, or otherwise) shall be personally liable for any obligation of such owner hereunder 
accruing prior to the date of the deed or deed in lieu of foreclosure.  

8. Private Agreement. This Declaration shall not be construed to grant any rights to the 
public in general. 

9. No Partnership. The provisions of this Declaration are not intended to create, and shall 
not be interpreted to create, a joint venture, a partnership or any similar relationship between the Declarant 
and Chester County, South Carolina. 

10. Exculpation. If Declarant conveys its fee simple interest in the Property, then Declarant 
shall be relieved from all obligations under this Declaration accruing after the date of the conveyance or 
assignment, but Declarant shall remain liable for any and all obligations accruing before the date of any 



4 

such conveyance. 

11. Severability. Invalidation of any covenant or restriction contained in this Declaration by 
judgment or court order shall not affect any other provisions of this Declaration, all of which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

12. Governing Law. This Declaration has been entered into under, and shall be construed in 
accordance with, the laws of the State of South Carolina, without regard to any choice of laws provisions 
that might suggest the use of another jurisdictions laws. 

13. Jurisdiction; Venue. Declarant for itself, its successors and assigns in title to all or part of 
the Property, each tenant now or hereafter leasing any part of the Property, and each lender making a loan 
secured by a mortgage on all or any part of the Property hereby consents to the resolution of any dispute 
arising out of or relating to this Declaration being resolved by suit, action, or proceeding arising in Chester 
County, South Carolina, and consents to personal jurisdiction to the appropriate state and/or federal courts 
otherwise having jurisdiction over the subject matter. Declarant for itself, its successors and assigns in title 
to all or part of the Property, each tenant now or hereafter leasing any part of the Property, and each lender 
making a loan secured by a mortgage on all or any part of the Property waives any objection that it may 
have to the venue of any such suit, action, or proceeding, being that of Chester County, South Carolina. 

14. Waiver. No waiver of any breach of any covenant or provision herein contained shall be 
deemed a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach thereof, or of any other covenant or provision 
herein contained. No extension of time for performance of any obligation or act shall be deemed an 
extension of time for performance of any other obligation or act. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE AND TWO EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE SUBSTANTIVELY BLANK] 

  



5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Agreement to be signed by its 
duly authorized representatives, as of the day and year first above written. 

 
 

________________________________ 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
By:__________________________________ 
Title:________________________________ 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
) 

COUNTY OF CHESTER   ) 

On this ________ day of  ____________ , 2024, before me, a notary public, personally 
appeared _____________________ , the _________________  of the _______________________  
, a  _______________ , named in the foregoing instrument and acknowledged said instrument on 
behalf of the _______  ___________________________________  __________________________ . 

 
      
Notary Public 

  



6 

EXHIBIT A 

(Property Description) 

  





7 

EXHIBIT B 

(Property Depiction of Certain Uses/Certain Restrictions) 



100'
STREAM
BUFFER

106-00-00-159
ZONING: R-2
GARNER AGEE
BOX 66
RICHBURG, SC  29729

100' PERIMETER BUFFER

100' PER
IM

ETER
 BU

FFER

10
0' 

PERIM
ETER B

UFFER

100' PERIMETER BUFFER

200'
STREAM
BUFFER

200'
STREAM
BUFFER

LANCASTER HIGHWAY

RO
DM

AN RO
AD

RESERVED FOR
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

RESERVED FOR
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

RESERVED FOR
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

R
ESER

VED
 FO

R
STO

R
M

W
ATER

M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T

106-00-00-034-000
ZONING: R-2

ASHINGTON FARMS
C/O VERONICA CLARK
1461 ASHINGTON DR.
CHESTER, SC 29706

106-00-00-070-000
ZONING: ID-1

KENNETH AND
VALERIE ANN ST JOHN
2123 LANCASTER HWY.

CHESTER, SC 29706

106-00-00-033-000
ZONING: R-2

PAULINE STREETER KING-ETA
1517 SHADEWOOD COURT

ROCK HILL, SC 29732 106-00-00-024-000
ZONING: R-2
JENNIFER W.

MCCULLOUGH
2315

LANCASTER HWY
CHESTER, SC 29706

106-00-00-023-000
ZONING R-2

EMMA JOSEPHINE
TADLOCK DARBY

2379 LANCASTER HWY
CHESTER, SC 29706

PROP. 117,000 SF
BUILDING

PROP. 234,360 SF

BUILDING

PROP. 217,620 SF
BUILDING

PROP. 150,650 SF
BUILDING

PROP. 1
13

,40
0 S

F

BUILD
IN

G

PROP. 1
24

,74
0 S

F

BUILD
IN

G

PR
O

P.
 7

9,
38

0 
SF

BU
IL

D
IN

G

PROP. 284,580 SF
BUILDING

RESERVED FOR
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

RESERVED FOR
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

RODMAN ROAD
PARK

SITE ACCESS
Note: Buffer width to vary for secondary
access to accommodate grading and
minimize disturbance to stream buffer

SITE ACCESS

POTENTIAL SANITARY SEWER
SERVICE TO RODMAN ROAD
PARK (PER PREVIOUS PLAN)

PROPOSED ROW
FOR FUTURE

RODMAN ROAD
PARK ACCESS

NO INDUSTRIAL
ACCESS TO
RODMAN ROAD

100'
STREAM
BUFFER

100'
STREAM
BUFFER

100'
STREAM
BUFFER

0
November 27, 2023

NORTH
200 400 800 1200

KNOX STATION - (ECKLES PROPERTY) CONCEPT PLAN

N

SHEET 1 of 1

THIS PLAN IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE BASED ON SURVEYED SITE CONDITIONS, FINAL DESIGN AND APPROVALS.
January 2, 2024























































































Chester County Planning Commission Minutes  

December 19, 2023 

 

CCMA23-17 Kabelo Ramatapa request Tax Map #079-01-10-011-000 off Saluda Road, located behind 
2051 J A Cochran Bypass, Chester, SC 29706 to be rezoned from Single Family Residential District (RS-1) 
to General Commercial District (GC).   

 
Vice Chairman Hill stated you have approached the podium and asked him to state his name and address 
for the record.  

 
Kabelo Ramatapa stated my address is 5029 Milton Bend Road, Charlotte, North Carolina. I do intend on 

becoming a permanent resident here because I do have real estate here and I do own houses here in 

Chester. 

 

Vice Chairman Hill stated you want this to become from single family residential to general commercial? 

 

Mr. Ramatapa said yes. 

 

Vice Chairman Hill stated Is there anyone in the audience who wishes to speak in favor of the request? 

 

Brittany Grant stated she lives at 2098 Marshall Buyers Road, Chester, SC 29706.  

 

Vice Chairman Hill stated you may continue, and you are speaking in favor. 

 

Ms. Grant stated I'm speaking in favor. I'm the property owner. I'm in a contract with Mr. Kabelo to 

purchase the property. There's two parcels of property. The front parcel is 2051 J. A. Cochran Bypass, 

and that property is GC. There's multiple properties surrounding it, that’s also GC. And there's a second 

parcel behind 2051, the 79-01-10-011 is 1.584 acres and we would wish to have that rezoned. Mr. 

Kabelo has plans for that property. I'll let him speak to that. 

 

Mr. Ramatapa stated okay, so on the property, ah sorry, my hearing is quite a little bit and if I have an 

accent, please forgive me. The property sits on a very strategical like, resident. It's on the main road 

coming to Chester. When I first came to Chester, looking for real estate, that property really got my 

attention and the way it's located. I looked at the property and I got in touch with the realtor, and they 

told me that behind it, it’s a residential zoning. So, I thought that if we can rezone it into GC, which is 

general commercial, I want to the long-term vision for it for now. We want to use it for a parking to have 

a place there. Probably have a firm, a place that accommodates family where people can come and 

enjoy, watch sports in the main building. But what we plan on doing with the land is to develop a strip 

mall with much smaller spaces. Because what ends up happening is that most strip malls have a larger 

square footage. So, an average person who wants to do business cannot afford the rent. So, I want to 

develop a much smaller space for a normal person who wants to start a business so that they can afford 

to pay rent in my strip mall that we are about to build, to empower small businesses. Because if you look 

at all the strip malls, they are about 1500 square feet, or 2000 square feet, so people are forced to pay 



huge amounts of rent. So, we want to comprise a space, have little spaces that are strip mall that an 

average person can afford. That will also help stimulate the economy of Chester. 

 

Vice Chairman Hill asked if there were any questions from the commission members. There was none.  

 

Vice Chairman Hill stated If no further comments from you, and you may be seated, we'll do the vote. 

Fellow commissioner members you heard the very thorough explanation of his intent to how he's going 

to use the property. 

 

Commissioner Hough motioned to approve, second by Commissioner Josey. Vote 6-0 to approve. 

 

















From: s
To:
Cc:
Subject: [EXTERNAL] LANDO FIRE DEPT. BOARD RESIGNATION
Date: Monday, December 11, 2023 12:55:18 PM

 
 
PLEASE LET ME KNOW YOU RECEIVED THIS E-MAIL:
 
 

                                I am writing to inform you about my decision to leave
my position as board member of the Lando Fire Department.
Effective December 31, 2023.  As you know, I retired in June of this
year, and have plans to  enjoy retirement. Thank you for the
opportunity to contribute to such an incredible organization. If I can
be of any assistance , let me know.  I was asked if I knew of an
excellent replacement.  I would like to recommend, Mrs. Mary L.
Hall.  She is an outstanding member of the Edgemoor Community. 
She is a business owner, and very active in the community and her
church, Red Oak A.M.E. Zion Church.  I am sure you’ll may know her,
if not, she was the coach of the girl’s basketball team at Lewisville
High School several years ago.
Please reach out to me for her contact information, if interested.
Again, thanks for the opportunity to serve such an outstanding
organization.
 
 
Blessings

Shirley B-Brice

Simply Elegant!
Shirley Boulware-Brice
Phone:  (
Cell:         
 



Radio Users Advisory Committee 

 

Executive Oversight 

 





Catawba Regional Workforce Investment Board 
 

 

Purpose: Provide policy guidance for and exercise oversight of activities under the 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunities Act for the Catawba Area. 




	1-2-2024 Agenda 
	12-4-2023 Minutes
	2023-20 Ordinance for Amended and Restated IC Agreement-8910334-v4
	2024-1 OrdinanceToAmendOrdinanceToCreateBurntHouseMeetingCemetaryAdvisoryCommittee (002)
	CCMA23-12 Griffin Land Holdings TM 106-121_Redacted
	CCMA23-16 Malissa Church TM 104-26_Redacted
	CCTA23-04 Text Amendment 4-117 Add new text -Meat Processing Deer Meat only
	CCTA23-05 Text Amendment 3-107 Add new text- garages and carports can go in the front yard
	CCMA23-17 Ramtapa_Redacted
	Shirley Brice LANDO FIRE DEPT. BOARD RESIGNATION_Redacted
	Ed Hartis Application_Redacted
	Leslie Brakefield for COG Workforce Invesment Board_Redacted
	eckles site plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Rezoning Exhibit


	Ordinance for Amended and Restated IC Agreement (3rd Readling revised).pdf
	Amended and Restated IC Agreement- Morcon_(3rd Reading Final).pdf
	Section 3.2. Remedies on Default.
	(a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, then the non-defaulting party may take any one or more of the following remedial actions:
	(i) terminate the Agreement; and/or
	(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity, including bringing an action for specific performance, as may appear appropriate.
	Section 3.3. Reserved.
	(a) The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on at least three business days’ prior notice, may enter and examine the Project and have access to and examine the Company’s books and records relating to the Project for the purposes o...
	Section 4.4. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Agreement are unimpaired, and the Parties shall reform such illegal, invalid, or unenforceabl...





